In the

Supreme Court

State of California

SUPREME COURT

SEP 12 2011

Frederick K. Chlrich Clerk

Denut

NANCY CEJA et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

RUDOLPH & SLETTEN, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent,

PHOENIX CEJA et al.,

Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT · CASE NO. H034826

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT G. HARRISON, ESQ. (118765) GARY P. SIMONIAN, ESQ. (177747) LECLAIRRYAN, LLP 888 South Figueroa Street, Suite 1800 Los Angeles, California 90017

(213) 488-0503 Telephone (213) 624-3755 Facsimile MICHAEL R. REYNOLDS, ESQ. (100126)
RANKIN, SPROAT, MIRES, BEATY
& REYNOLDS, APC
1970 Broadway, Suite 1150

ISSUE PRESENTED

"Code of Civil Procedure § 377.60(b) gives a decedent's 'putative spouse' standing to institute a wrongful-death action. It defines putative spouse as a person who 'believed in good faith that the marriage to the decedent was valid.' Does a person have the requisite 'good faith belief' where he or she has an unreasonable, albeit sincere, belief that the marriage was valid? Or is a subjective belief, no matter how unreasonable, sufficient to establish good faith?"

INTRODUCTION

Under the putative-marriage doctrine—now codified at Code of Civil Procedure § 377.60(b) and elsewhere—a party to an invalid marriage may nevertheless enjoy certain of the civil benefits of marriage if he or she "believed in good faith" that the marriage was valid. For nearly a quarter century, California Courts have required parties asserting putative-spouse status to demonstrate that their belief in a valid marriage was objectively reasonable. Under *In re Marriage of Vryonis* (2d Dist. 1988) 202

¹ See In re Marriage of Vryonis (2d Dist. 1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 712; In re Marriage of Xia Guo and Xiao Hua Sun (2d Dist. 2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1491; In re Marriage of Ramirez (4th Dist. 2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 751; Welch v. State of California (5th Dist. 2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1374; Estate of DePasse (6th Dist. 2002) 97 Cal.App.4th. 92. See also In re Domestic Partnership of Ellis & Aiaga (4th Dist. 2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 1000.

Cal.App.3d 712, and its progeny, a subjective belief in a marriage's validity—no matter how sincerely held—was insufficient to establish putative-spouse status. The belief also must be reasonable. Put simply: a would-be putative spouse cannot turn a blind eye to facts that, to any reasonable person, would reveal a marriage to be invalid.

The Court of Appeal's decision² in the present case has upended this once-settled area of family law by substituting a subjective standard for the objective-reasonableness test. Under the Court of Appeal's decision, whether a party qualifies as a putative spouse hinges solely on whether the would-be putative spouse had a sincere belief that his or her marriage was valid.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision for four reasons.

First, the Court of Appeal's subjective standard is inconsistent with the civil-law origins of the putative-marriage doctrine. California drew its putative-marriage doctrine from the decisions of other community-property states—e.g., Texas and Louisiana—whose family law, like California's, developed out of the civil-law tradition. Those states all have adopted a reasonableness standard for assessing putative-spouse status. Indeed, they had done so long before California adopted the putative-marriage doctrine in the 1910s and 1920s. Today,

² Ceja v. Rudolf & Sletten, Inc. (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 584. A copy of the opinion ("Op.") is attached in the appendix to this brief.

courts and commentators alike agree that, in the putative-spouse context, "good faith belief" means an objectively reasonable belief that the marriage was valid.³ The objective-reasonableness standard is black-letter law. 52 Am. Jur. 2d Marriage § 91 ("The term 'good faith,' when used in connection with a putative marriage, means an honest and reasonable belief that the marriage was valid."). If the Court of Appeal's decision stands, California will be the lone jurisdiction to use a subjective test for good-faith status in the putative-spouse context.

Second, the Court of Appeal's subjective approach violates basic principles of statutory construction. The Court of Appeal interpreted "believed in good faith" to mean that the would-be putative spouse had an "honest, genuine, and sincere" belief in the marriage's validity. But all beliefs are, by logical necessity, "honest, genuine, and sincere." An "insincere belief" is a

³ See, e.g., Succession of Pigg (La. 1955) 84 So.2d 196, 197 ("It is well settled that the good faith referred to in these Articles [relating to putative spouses] means an honest and reasonable belief that the marriage was a valid one at the time of its confection."); Garduno v. Garduno (Tex. Ct. App. 1988) 760 S.W.2d 735, 740 ("[W]hen the putative spouse is aware that a former marriage existed at one time, the question becomes one of the reasonableness of that party's belief that the former marriage has been dissolved."); Hicklin v. Hicklin (Neb. 1994) 509 N.W.2d 627, 631 ("Good faith, in the context of a putative marriage, means an honest and reasonable belief that the marriage was valid at the time of the ceremony. . . . [A] party cannot close his or her eyes to suspicious circumstances."); Williams v. Williams (Nev. 2004) 97 P.3d 1124, 1128 ("Good faith' has been defined as an honest and reasonable belief that the marriage was valid.").

contradiction in terms. Thus, an "honest, genuine, and sincere" belief is simply a belief. If so, however, the Court of Appeal's interpretation deprives the phrase "good faith" of all meaning. If a "good faith" belief is just an "honest, genuine, and sincere" belief, and an "honest, genuine, and sincere" belief is just a belief, then a "good faith" belief is just a belief. The phrase "good faith" adds nothing to the meaning of "belief." Statutes should not be interpreted to render terms within it meaningless. Accordingly, this Court should reject the Court of Appeal's construction of § 377.60(b).

Third, the Court of Appeal erred in concluding that the precodification case law supported a purely subjective standard. In
its decision, the Court of Appeal claimed that California cases
pre-dating the Legislature's 1969 codification of the putativespouse doctrine had employed a subjective standard, not an
objective standard, for good-faith belief in the validity of a
marriage. But examination reveals that *none* of these cases
discussed the relative merits of an objective versus subjective
standard for evaluating good faith. The issue simply did not
arise.

Although the Court of Appeal cites scores of decisions in its 59-page opinion, it fails to identify a single case in which a court explicitly chose a subjective standard over an objective standard. Nor can it. The issue was not addressed in California courts until *Vryonis*. And the *Vryonis* court, like every other jurisdiction before it, required that the would-be putative spouse's belief in a valid marriage be objectively reasonable.

Fourth, the Court of Appeal's decision represents poor public policy. Marital status plays a central role in countless societal decisions. Given the importance of marital status, it is vital that the law require would be spouses to undertake reasonable efforts to ensure that their marriage is valid. But a purely subjective standard for "good faith belief" would mean that married parties no longer would have to trouble themselves with California's marriage prerequisites. Merely believing that one is married would have virtually the same legal effect as actually being married—regardless of whether that belief was a reasonable one. A subjective standard would eliminate the incentive for couples to ensure that they meet the requirements of a valid marriage. That, in turn, would unravel California's marriage laws.

A subjective standard also would be costly to administer. Because it hinges solely on the putative spouse's state of mind—something not amenable to resolution as a matter of law—nearly every case involving putative spouse issues would require an evidentiary mini-trial to resolve the issue. And the error rates of those hearings would be high, as it is easy for parties either to misremember or to feign their subjective states of mind, particularly where the events in question happened years before. The Court of Appeal's subjective approach thereby imposes a significant burden on trial courts without offering any appreciable countervailing benefits.

For all these reasons, amplified below, this Court should hold that, in the putative-spouse context, "good-faith belief"

means a reasonable belief in the validity of one's marriage.

Accordingly, it should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision and direct that judgment be entered in favor of Defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual Background

Plaintiff Nancy Ceja ("Nancy") sued defendant R&S under Code of Civil Procedure § 377.60(b) for the death of her alleged putative husband, Robert Ceja ("Robert"). Robert was fatally injured in a workplace accident. The issue in this case is whether Nancy had standing to bring a wrongful-death action. That question hinges on facts surrounding Robert and Nancy's marital status.

Robert was previously married to Christine Ceja ("Christine"), by whom he had had two children. (Appellant's Appendix Volume I ("AA I:") at 128). Robert and Christine separated, and, by 2001, Robert and Nancy had begun living together. (AA I:119, 151). That same year, Robert initiated divorce proceedings and obtained joint custody of his and Christine's two children. (AA I:151). Nancy knew that Robert was married to Christine and had had two children with her. (AA I:118, 119, 128, 154; AA II:348, 403). Nancy also knew that Robert had filed for a divorce from Christine but says, "I did not talk about this subject with him at all." (AA II:350).

On September 24, 2003, Robert and Nancy completed an application for a "License and Certificate of Marriage." (AA

I:157). Although Nancy knew about Robert's prior marriage, she neglected to mention it on this form. The "groom personal data" section gives "0" as Robert's "number of previous marriages." (*Ibid.*). And the section asking how the previous marriage had been terminated—with check boxes for death, dissolution, or annulment—was left blank, as was the space for the date on which the prior marriage was terminated. (*Ibid.*).

Despite these false representations, Nancy signed the marriage license. Her signature appears in a box marked "affidavit," underneath a statement that she and Robert were unmarried and that "the foregoing information is correct and true to the best of our knowledge and belief." (AA I:157). When asked during discovery why she signed a marriage-license application that stated that Robert had never before been married, a fact that she knew was untrue, Nancy—an executive assistant in the high-tech industry—said that she did not review the license "in any detail." (AA II:348). She "simply signed the document." (*Ibid.*). Three days after they obtained the license, Robert and Nancy held a large wedding ceremony.

At that time, however, Robert was still married to Christine. Although Robert had initiated divorce proceedings in 2001, the dissolution did not become final until December 31, 2003—i.e., three months *after* Robert and Nancy's wedding ceremony. (AA I:159). Indeed, Robert did not even move for entry of judgment in his divorce with Christine until a month *after* the wedding. (AA I:161). Thus, Robert and Nancy's attempted September 27, 2003 marriage was void.

On December 31, 2003, the Santa Clara County Superior Court filed a "Notice of Entry of Judgment" in Robert and Christine's divorce. (AA I:159-61). The first page of the notice recites, in large upper-case text, that the judgment was entered "DEC 26 2003" and filed on "DEC 31 2003." (*Ibid.*).

Furthermore, it contains a boxed warning that: (1) the divorce was effective only as of the date the judgment was filed (i.e., December 31, 2003), and (2) neither party could remarry until after the effective date. (*Ibid.*). This warning against remarrying, in bold type and all caps, states

WARNING: NEITHER PARTY MAY REMARRY UNTIL THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE TERMINATION OF MARITAL STATUS AS SHOWN IN THIS BOX [i.e. December 31, 2003].

(Ibid.). It was sent to Robert and Nancy's home. (Ibid.).

Nancy admits that she saw the Notice shortly thereafter. (AA I:147). Sometime during January 2004, she faxed a copy of it to the Ironworkers Trust Fund to change the beneficiary designation on certain of Robert's benefits. (AA I:147-49). Despite the fact that the document clearly states the effective date of Robert and Christine's divorce, despite the fact that it contains a boxed warning against remarrying before that date, and despite the fact that Nancy admits seeing the Notice of Entry of Judgment and faxing it to the Ironworkers Trust Fund as part of an application to have her added to Robert's benefits, she maintains that she was "unclear on the specific date of the divorce for Mr. Ceja." (AA II:349).

Thus, Nancy claims that she thought her marriage to Robert was valid. (AA II:348). Robert and Nancy subsequently held themselves out as husband and wife but took no action to cure their invalid marriage.

Procedural History

Nancy brought a wrongful-death action against R&S as Robert's "putative spouse." 4 (AA I:2). R&S moved for summary judgment or, in the alternative, for summary adjudication. (AA I:47). It argued, among other things, that under Code of Civil Procedure § 377.60 Nancy could not be Robert's putative spouse because she did not have a "good faith belief" that her marriage to him was valid. To support this argument, it cited an unbroken line of Court of Appeal cases holding that "good faith belief" imposes an objective "reasonableness" standard. (Ibid.). R&S contended that no reasonable person in Nancy's position would have believed that the marriage to Robert was valid. (AA I:68). The Superior Court agreed, holding that Nancy was not a putative spouse because "she did not have an objectively reasonable good-faith belief in the validity of her marriage to Robert." (AA III:706). Accordingly, it entered judgment for R&S. (Ibid.).

⁴ Robert's first wife, Christine, brought a separate wrongful death action on behalf of Robert and Christine's minor children. This action was consolidated with Nancy's action but was settled and dismissed by agreement. It is not part of this appeal.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion

The Sixth District Court of Appeal reversed, relying principally on Nancy's statement that she believed the marriage was valid. *Ceja*, 194 Cal.App.4th at 609. It rejected the defense theory that Nancy's "lack of diligence" in reviewing the marriage certificate negated good faith. *Ibid*. And it held that there remained a triable issue of fact whether Nancy actually knew that Robert's marriage was not final before they got married. *Id*. at 610. Accordingly, it reversed the Superior Court's judgment.

This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeal erred in holding that a sincere belief—no matter how unreasonable—is sufficient to establish "good faith" for putative-spouse purposes.

California Code of Civil Procedure § 377.60(b) gives a decedent's "putative spouse" standing to assert a wrongful-death claim. It defines "putative spouse" as the surviving spouse of an invalid marriage who has a good-faith belief that his or her marriage to decedent was valid:

As used in this subdivision, "putative spouse" means the surviving spouse of a void or voidable marriage who is found by the court to have believed in good faith that the marriage to the decedent was valid.

Code Civ. Proc. § 377.60(b) (emphasis added). The statute does not further define "good faith belief" or explain how it differs from an ordinary belief. To determine its meaning, one must look to the history of the putative-marriage doctrine in California and other states.

A. California adopted the putative-marriage doctrine from other civil-law jurisdictions.

Although now codified at § 377.60(b) and elsewhere,⁵ the putative-marriage doctrine has its origins in case law. It is generally recognized in those states whose family law derives from French and Spanish "civil code" legal systems, e.g., California, Texas, and Louisiana. See Christopher Blakesley, THE PUTATIVE MARRIAGE DOCTRINE, 60 Tul. L. Rev. 1, 7-10 (1985) (describing how the putative-marriage doctrine developed in civil-code jurisdictions); Packard v. Arellanes (1861) 17 Ca. 525, 537 ("Our whole system by which the rights of property between husband and wife are regulated and determined, is borrowed from the civil and Spanish law."). See also Estate of

⁵ The most significant provision is Fam. Code § 2251, which gives "putative spouses" rights to "quasi-marital property." As in Code Civ. Proc. § 377.60(b), it requires that the would-be putative spouse "believed in good faith that the marriage was valid." *Ibid.* The putative spouse concept also appears in Code Civ. Proc. § 872.210, in Fam. Code §§ 17505, 17506, and in Pen. Code § 3524.

The Probate Code has not codified the putative spouse doctrine, but it still is recognized by California courts in that context. See Estate of Sax (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 1300, 1305.

Krone (1948) 83 Cal.App.2d 766, 768 ("Putative marriage' is a phrase derived from the civil law which once prevailed in the southwestern states and in Louisiana."); Comment, HUSBAND AND WIFE: RIGHTS OF A BIGAMOUS WIFE IN COMMUNITY PROPERTY, 9 Cal. L. Rev. 68, 69 (1921) (noting that the putative-marriage doctrine "is a heritage of the civil law, and accordingly is to be found in force in jurisdictions in which the influence of French and Spanish law has been felt."); John Carlson, PUTATIVE SPOUSES IN TEXAS COURTS, 7 Tex. Wesleyan L. Rev. 1, 3-5 (2000) (describing how Texas's putative-marriage doctrine arose out of Spanish Law's "Las Siete Partidas," which were first promulgated in 1348).

When this Court first adopted the putative-marriage doctrine in the 1910s and 20s, it used the standard that these other community-property states had applied, requiring that the would-be putative spouse have a "good faith" belief that the marriage was valid. See Schneider v. Schneider (1920) 183 Cal. 335. But prior to codification in 1969, no published California case addressed whether a sincere belief in the validity of a marriage—even if unreasonable—was sufficient to establish "good faith."

⁶ As discussed *infra*, the Court of Appeal reads the precodification case law to have rejected an objective standard. But the cases it cites stand for no such thing. The issue simply was never presented. Until the Court of Appeal's decision in the present case, there was no published California case that held that an unreasonable, but sincere, belief in a marriage's validity was sufficient to establish good faith.

Statements in those earlier California cases, however, strongly suggested that "good faith" required that the would-be putative spouse act reasonably. The decisions recited that the doctrine was designed to protect "innocent" persons who had "reason" to believe that they were lawfully married. Schneider, 183 Cal. at 338 ("[W]here a woman is an innocent party to a void marriage she is entitled to the same interest in property acquired by the parties as if the marriage were valid.") (emphasis added); Estate of Goldberg (1962) 203 Cal.App.2d 402, 412 (finding that the plaintiff was a putative spouse because the putative husband told her he was a free man and "[s]he had no reason to disbelieve him and did believe him.") (emphasis added). See also Raj Rajan, The Putative Spouse in California Law, 11 J. CONTEMP. LEGAL ISSUES 19 (2000) ("The concept of innocence for which most courts reach in pondering good faith is that of the ordinary person who would reasonably believe that the marriage was truly valid.").

The pre-codification cases also stated that the doctrine protected the parties' "reasonable expectations" that a marriage is valid. See, e.g., Vallera v. Vallera (1943) 21 Cal.2d 681, 685 (noting that the putative marriage doctrine arose out "[e]quitable considerations arising from the reasonable expectation of the continuation of benefits attending the status of marriage"). And in Miller v. Johnson (1963) 214 Cal.App.2d 123, the Court of Appeal opined that "there must also be a diligent attempt to meet the requisites of a valid marriage." Id. at 126 (emphasis added). These cases all suggested that there was an objective-

reasonableness component to good faith. In none of them, however, was the issue dispositive.

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