, t

IN THE

Supreme Court of California

NANCY CEJA, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT FILED

٧.

RUDOLPH & SLETTEN, INC., Defendant and Respondent,
Phoenix Ceja et al., Respondent.

nt, NOV 1 4 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District No. H034826 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Hon. Mary Jo Levinger, Case Nos. CV112520 and CV115283

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

The Arns Law Firm Robert S. Arns (SBN 65071), Jonathan E. Davis (SBN 191346), Steven R. Weinmann (SBN 190956) 515 Folsom Street, 3rd Floor, San Francisco, California 94105

Phone: (415) 495-7800 Fax: (415) 495-7888

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

This case is about the meaning of the second sentence of section

377.60(b): "As used in this subdivision, 'putative spouse' means the surviving spouse of a void or voidable marriage who is found by the court to have believed in good faith that the marriage to the decedent was valid." This sentence requires the Court to hold that a person claiming putative spouse status under the section "believed in good faith" she is a putative spouse because the standard *contains no objective requirement*. It requires only a finding of "belief." In its opinion, the Sixth District held that:

[T]he statutory definition of putative spouse in section 377.60 is clear and unambiguous. It requires a good faith belief in the validity of a marriage. Giving the statutory language its ordinary meaning, we hold that the phrase "believed in good faith" refers to a state of mind and a belief that is held honestly, genuinely, and sincerely, without collusion or fraud. It does not require that the belief also be objectively reasonable.

(Ceja v. Rudolf & Sletten, Inc. (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 584, 605 (hereafter Ceja).)

The putative spouse doctrine is rooted in the community property system, and its intent was to "protect the expectations of innocent parties" when a marriage dissolves. (*Ceja*, *supra*, 194 Cal.App.4th at p. 598., citing *Schneider v. Schneider* (1920) 183 Cal. 335, 336–338; *Caldwell v. Odisio* (1956) 142 Cal. App. 2d 732, 736.) The innocent parties referred to by the court are those who, like Nancy Ceja, believe they are part of a valid marriage and tragically lose the person to whom they have made the most solemn and profound commitment two people can make to one another.

3. Vryonis improperly added an objective requirement to the longstanding test of putative marriage.

The trial court granted summary judgment primarily based on *Marriage* of *Vryonis* (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 712, which is a marital dissolution case. In its opinion, the Sixth District panel reviewed the propriety of that analysis and concluded that *Vryonis* "added a further requirement for putative status: a party's good faith belief must also be objectively

reasonable." (Ceja, supra, 194 Cal.App.4th at p. 596.)

The Court of Appeal analyzed the cases on which *Vryonis* relied in great detail, and concluded "that courts and the Legislature consistently demonstrate their understanding that good faith is distinct from reasonableness and does not incorporate an objective standard," and further held that "[t]he *Vryonis* court engrafted an objective test to the statutory definition based on the legally unsupported view that 'good faith belief' necessarily incorporates an objective standard." (*Id.* at p. 605.) It thus concluded that the trial court erred in relying on *Vryonis* rather than the myriad of other cases that defined "putative spouse" as requiring only a good faith belief in the validity of the marriage because *Vryonis* did not correctly state the standard.

Nancy Ceja completely agrees with the Sixth District panel's analysis of *Vryonis* and its inapplicability to this case. Notably, in support of its holding that "good faith belief must be objectively reasonable," *Vryonis* did not cite a single family law case. (See *Marriage of Vryonis* (1988) 202 Cal. App. 3d 712, 720.) Thus, it clearly engrafted an objective element onto the longstanding definition of "good faith belief" in the validity of a marriage *for purposes of dissolution cases*. This Court has long held to the contrary that a "putative" marriage existed "where one or both parties to an invalid marriage have in good faith believed such marriage to be valid...." (*Sanguinetti v. Sanguinetti* (1937) 9 Cal.2d 95, 99.)

The putative spouse doctrine was codified in its modern form in 1969, as part of the now-former Family Law Act. (*Ceja*, *supra*, 194 Cal. App.4th at p. 591.) The *Ceja* court found that "in codifying the doctrine, the Legislature simply adopted existing case law and did not intend to change the definition of a putative spouse or restrict application of the doctrine." (*Id.*, citing *In re Marriage of Monti* (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 50, 55; *In re Marriage Guo & Sun* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1491, 1500; *County*

of Los Angeles v. Frisbie (1942) 19 Cal.2d 634, 644) The Ceja court was guided by the equitable purpose of the doctrine when they opted to reinterpret the Vryonis decision, which they held was out of line with both precedent and legislative intent. (Ceja, supra, 194 Cal.App.4th at p. 591.)

The Court of Appeal below explained that it interpreted the precodification cases as focusing mainly on the subjective component of a good faith belief, such that they treated it as a "factual question concerning a party's state of mind," and that "in determining credibility, courts also considered the circumstances surrounding the putative marriage and the person's level of education, marital experience, intelligence, and even the conduct after the putative marriage." *Ceja, supra,*, 194 Cal.App.4th at 595. The Court of Appeal here concluded from this that "[i]f the trial court found that a party harbored a good faith belief, and if there was substantial evidence to support it, the reviewing court upheld the finding of putative status." (*Id*). The record in the trial court clearly shows there was substantial evidence to support a finding that Nancy harbored a good faith belief in the validity of her marriage.

R&S argues that none of the cases before 1969 noted by the Court of Appeal in *Ceja* affirmatively held *in the putative spouse context* that "a putative spouse could have a 'good faith' belief even if that belief was objectively unreasonable," or conversely, had not "explicitly rejected an objective standard." (R&S Opening Brief On the Merits at 19, 20.) While it is true that no case can be said to "hold" beyond what it actually decides, it is also true that the "question [of whether something was objectively reasonable] never came up" in *Figoni v. Figoni* despite the fact that the court there *upheld a finding of putative spouse status* in a case which would clearly have failed an "objective reasonable" test—the parties were unaware that an uncle-niece marriage had been illegal for over 50 years. (*Figoni v. Figoni* (1931) 211 Cal. 354.) Clearly, if the parties were to be

charged with knowledge of and attempted compliance with California law under R&S's proposed objectively reasonable standard, the "question" of what was objectively reasonable would have come up in *Figoni*. That the putative spouse status was upheld on the grounds of "substantial evidence" of the parties' actual ignorance of the law is certainly evidence that there was no "objectively reasonable" standard at the time.

Conversely, in Flanagan v. Capital Nat. Bank of Sacramento (1931) 213 Cal. 664, also cited by the Court of Appeal in Ceja, the California Supreme Court affirmed a denial of putative spouse status. In doing so, the court noted the Plaintiff's experience in California and the fact that "[e]verything in the record suggests she viewed the relationship not as a marriage, but as a satisfactory substitute for a marriage." (Id. at p. 667.) Again, the Supreme Court would not have needed to delve into whether she was in fact "experienced" in what constitutes a marriage, if her belief would have failed an "objectively reasonable test." The Court was ruling based on the plaintiff's lack of a subjective belief, or as the Court of Appeal below held, her state of mind.

Prior to the enactment of section 377.60(b), it was held that a plaintiff could be considered a putative spouse in circumstances somewhat similar to those here, based on the existing law as to who could inherit property. In *Kunakoff v. Woods*, the plaintiff brought a wrongful death action against the defendants, who brought a motion to dismiss based on their claim that the plaintiff lacked standing because she was not an "heir" of the decedent. (*Kunakoff v. Woods* (1958) 166 Cal.App.2d 59 (hereafter *Kunakoff*).) The undisputed facts revealed that the plaintiff and the decedent participated in a marriage ceremony in a church of which they were members, which was performed by a minister of that faith. (*Id.* at 59) Unlike Nancy and Robert Ceja, however, they obtained no marriage license "and no other ceremony or act was done to validate the marriage." (*Id.* at 61.) Until the decedent's

death, they "lived publicly and avowedly as husband and wife," having one child. (*Id.*) The trial court granted the defendants' dismissal motion because at the time, section 377 authorized only "heirs or personal representatives" to maintain a wrongful death cause of action, and it held that the plaintiff was not the decedent's "heir." (*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal for the Second District reversed. Referring to the meaning of "putative" or "de facto" spouse for family law and probate law purposes, because prior to 1977, the section contained no definition of "putative spouse," it concluded that "[a] putative marriage is a matrimonial union solemnized in due form and celebrated in *good faith* by at least one of the parties but which, by reason of some legal infirmity, is either void or voidable." (*Id.* at 63.)(emphasis added) That is *precisely* the definition of Nancy Ceja's marriage in this case, and the test used in *Kunakoff* closely echoes the definition under section 377.60. Furthermore, the court in *Kunakoff* also noted that the putative wife had a "very elementary education," and that the wedding had been set up by the couple's parents and neither she nor her husband were told that a license or marriage certificate were required. (*Id.* at 67, n.1). Thus, the court was clearly employing a subjective standard as to good faith belief.

Furthermore, in *Estate of Leslie*, only six years before *Vryonis* was decided, this Court held that "[b]y definition, a putative marriage is a union in which at least one partner believes in good faith that a valid marriage exists." (*Estate of Leslie*, *supra*, 37 Cal.3d at 197.)

4. Nancy Ceja is a "putative spouse" under section 377.60(b) regardless of what *Vryonis* held in the marriage dissolution context.

Even if this Court were to conclude that *Vryonis*' holding was correct in its holding, that does not end the analysis. The right to maintain a

wrongful death cause of action is wholly statutory. (Kunakoff v. Woods (1958) 166 Cal.App.2d 59, 62.) This Court can hold that the standard espoused in Vryonis as to martial dissolution cases, is not applicable to the statute in question, section 377.60 which provides that "[a]s used in this subdivision, 'putative spouse' means the surviving spouse of a void or voidable marriage who is found by the court to have believed in good faith that the marriage to the decedent was valid." (Emphasis added). Thus, this Court could simply hold that Nancy is a putative spouse under the definition provided in section 377.60(b). Nancy Ceja is clearly a putative spouse for purposes of this action because she meets the test stated in section 377.60(b), regardless of what Vryonis held in employing the definition of putative spouse in a divorce case that was interpreting a family law statute (then-current Civil Code, section 4522). The wrongful death statute is clear on its face.

The Sixth District panel in *Ceja* noted that the Legislature enacted and amended section 377.60(b) after the *Vryonis* decision, and that this implicated the rule of statutory construction that the Legislature was presumed to have been aware of and acquiesced in "the previous judicial construction" of the statute at issue. It found this presumption inapplicable because *Vryonis* created a conflict in existing case law; however, it could have as easily found it inapplicable because *Vryonis* was not a "previous judicial construction" of section 377.60, but rather of a Family Law Act statute, specifically then-current Civil Code, section 4452. Thus, unlike in *Marina Point, Ltd. v. Wolfson* (1982) 30 Cal.3d 721, 735 where "the legislative documents establish[ed] beyond question that the Legislature was well aware of" a construction of the statute, there is no such unmistakable evidence here that the Legislature was aware of the *Vryonis* decision and tacitly approved of its construction of \$377.60(b).

C. Even If Objective Standards Are To Be Applied, Nancy Ceja's Status Cannot Be Decided On Summary Judgment.

Summary judgment is a drastic procedure, and should not be used as a substitute for a trial on the merits as a means of determining the facts. (Palma v. U.S. Industrial Fasteners, Inc. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 171, 183) Clear pre-Vryonis precedent held that a grant of putative status only followed a factual examination of a party's state of mind to determine if the party held a good faith belief. (See Neureither v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd. (1971) 15 Cal.App.3d 429; Estate of Vargas (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d 714, 717 [holding that the putative spouse's "credibility was a question for determination by the trial court"].) The Court of Appeal below simply returned the putative spouse doctrine to these roots, requiring that goodfaith in the validity of one's marriage must be determined by the fact-finder, without any requirement of objective reasonableness.

1. There is substantial evidence supporting Nancy Ceja's good faith belief.

R&S argues that Nancy Ceja could not have had a "good faith" belief that she was married because on their marriage license, as to Robert, there was a box indicating that he had "0" prior marriages. But Nancy provided an uncontested declaration that she did not read this section in any detail. (AA 000425.) Furthermore, there is no case law which says that "inquiry notice" is the test.

Nancy and Robert did the following acts to hold themselves out as a married couple: 1) She changed her last name to Ceja; 2) they had a joint checking account; 3) they lived together as husband and wife; 4) they filed taxes as married but filing separately; 5) they told anyone that asked that they were married; 6) they wore wedding rings indicating their marriage together. (AA 000427.) In the end, under either standard before the Court, objectively reasonable or good faith belief, there are triable issues of fact

that Nancy was the putative spouse of Robert and should be allowed to proceed to trial.

At the time of the ceremony, Nancy believed that Robert's divorce was final. (AA 000425-427.) Even if she later found out that this was not the case, the *Vryonis* opinion itself recognizes that "[s]ubsequent events are not germane to whether there was a proper effort to create *a valid marriage* in the first instance." (*Vryonis, supra,* 202 Cal.App.3d at 722 (emphasis added).) In essence, the trial court charged Nancy Ceja with "constructive knowledge" that her marriage was not valid, by virtue of her possession of a dissolution document regarding Robert's first marriage, that *might* have put a person on notice that there *might* be a problem *if* they had read it *and* seen the date of the dissolution of Robert's prior marriage.¹

The facts show they continued to live together and act as man and wife for nearly five years following her sending a fax in 2004 (in order to obtain union benefits) showing that the prior marriage had been dissolved. (AA 000425-427.) Even assuming that she read the dissolution papers, — as to which there is no evidence, and indeed there is evidence to the contrary, (AA 00425)—this is clearly a "subsequent event" which should not be considered as to whether there was a proper effort to create a valid marriage in the first place. There is therefore also a triable issue of fact, even assuming Nancy did learn Robert's divorce became final three months after their wedding, as to whether said knowledge would engender a reasonable belief or undermine a claim of good faith belief that they were validly married as a result of the dissolution of the prior marriage.

Finally, even if Nancy had seen the "0" in the box as to the number of prior marriages Robert was claiming, it is unclear why this would render

¹ "Constructive knowledge" may be a concept familiar to lawyers, but it is not one commonly employed by the public. This is not the same as saying "ignorance of the law is no excuse;" here, Nancy thought she had complied with California law in getting a marriage license.

her belief in his marital status—as being already divorced—unreasonable. She could simply have thought that he erred, or that the typist had erred, or that it did not matter since she believed he was in fact divorced. The error on the form did not in and of itself render the license and marriage invalid. (See Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (1962) 204 Cal.App.2d 805 [even where marriage applicant provided false names, properly solemnized marriage was valid].)

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